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FOREWORD

The 2003 NALP Federal Legal Employment Opportunities Guide is the product of a cooperative
effort between NALP and The Partnership for Public Service (“The Partnership”), a nonpartisan,
nonprofit organization dedicated to revitalizing the federal public service through public-private
partnerships and educational efforts.  NALP has again updated the information on available
employment opportunities with nearly 30 federal agencies and departments.  The Partnership
contributed a wealth of information that includes information that offers job seekers an in-depth look
at the government’s myriad functions and roles, as well as a glossary of terms unique to the federal
application process, and tips on landing a government job.  

NALP extends its sincere thanks to The Partnership for its contributions to this resource.
  
To learn more about The Partnership for Public Service and opportunities with the federal
government, visit The Partnership’s website at www.ourpublicservice.org.
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INTRODUCTION

WORKING AS AN ATTORNEY FOR UNCLE SAM

From the legal scholarship of our nation’s founders to the tenacious investigations of today’s Justice
Department, lawyers have played an important role in American government.  Today, the media
often glorify the federal attorney, projecting a variety of characters and stereotypes.  Images of the
federal prosecutor fighting organized crime, segregation, and corruption permeate American history
and popular culture.  Yet the government lawyer’s role reaches beyond the U.S. Attorney’s Office
and the Department of Justice.  Lawyers can be found in virtually every office in all three branches
of the federal government.  Furthermore, while this Guide lists specific legal job opportunities with
the federal government, not all lawyers in the government serve their country in a legal capacity.
The skills taught in law school are also helpful to those who choose to work as agents in the FBI or
CIA, as advisers to department and agency heads, or as managers in the prestigious Presidential
Management Intern Program.  These are just a few of the many opportunities that exist for
individuals with law degrees.  

In the pages that follow, government job seekers will find not only listings of available legal
positions with federal departments and agencies, but also a significant amount of information that
will assist them in their exploration of the federal government as a potential employer.  
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FEDERAL DEPARTMENTS & AGENCIES--WHAT THEY DO, AND WHO DOES IT

General Accounting Office www.gao.gov - The GAO is the government’s central watchdog agency.
At the request of members of Congress, the GAO investigates, audits and evaluates government programs
to determine if they are meeting their goals, spending money efficiently, operating lawfully and so on. The
agency then issues public reports on their findings that help guide policy decisions. 

General Services Administration www.gsa.gov - The General Services Administration is the
government’s real property manager, landlord, acquisitions specialist, and office supplier. The agency sets
policy to ensure government money is being spent wisely, government workplaces are up-to-date and
government management policies are working efficiently. 
Employees of the GSA work in:  
· Public Buildings Service

http://www.gsa.gov/Portal/content/orgs_content.jsp?contentOID=22883&contentType=1005&P=1&S=1
- The Public Buildings Service is the largest public real estate organization in the United States,
maintaining more than 339 million square feet of workspace for more than a million federal employees
in over 1,600 American communities. This inventory of 1,800 government-owned buildings and 6,500
leased locations comprises 40 percent of federal office space.

· Federal Supply Service
http://www.gsa.gov/Portal/content/orgs_content.jsp?contentOID=22892&contentType=1005 – The
Federal Supply Service provides federal customers with the products, services and programs to meet
their supply, service, procurement, vehicle purchasing and leasing, travel and transportation and
personal property management requirements.

· Office of Government-wide Policy http://policyworks.gov/ - This office makes policy about
government supplies, purchasing and property including the government's strategies to acquire $200
billion a year in goods and services, the $8 billion a year spent on government travel, and the tens of
billions of dollars spent each year on internal administrative management systems.

· Federal Technology Service http://www.fts.gsa.gov/ - The FTS advises other agencies on
information and digital technology needs and operations.

    
Department of Agriculture www.usda.gov - The USDA has a broad range of responsibilities. The
agency works on farm issues, including efforts to improve and maintain farm income and develop and expand
markets for agricultural products. The USDA is responsible for food stamps and other hunger and poverty
programs, as well as conservation and natural resource protection – attempting to find a balance between the
needs of agriculture and the environment. Agriculture department inspectors are responsible for the safety
of the nation’s food supply and USDA employees run a broad array of rural development programs that
provide housing, business loans and other assistance to rural communities. The U.S. Forest Service, with its
rangers and firefighters, is also an Agriculture Department Agency.
Employees of the Agriculture Department work in:
· Rural Business-Cooperative Service www.rurdev.usda.gov/rbs/ - This service promotes competitive

business in underserved, rural areas through a series of loan and grant programs.
· Rural Housing Service www.rurdev.usda.gov/rhs/index.html - The Rural Housing Service provides

affordable rental housing, homeownership opportunities, and essential community facilities to rural
Americans through a broad array of direct loan, guarantee, and grant programs.
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· Rural Utilities Service www.rurdev.usda.gov/rus/index.html - The Rural Utilities Service is a credit
agency that assists rural electric and telecommunications utilities in obtaining financing.  It also
administers a nationwide water and waste loan and grant program to improve the quality of life and
promote economic development in rural America.

· Agricultural Marketing Service http://www.ams.usda.gov/ - This office administers
standardization, grading, certification, market news, marketing orders, research and promotion, and
regulatory programs.

· Grain Inspection, Packers, and Stockyards Administration www.usda.gov/gipsa/ - GIPSA assists in
the marketing of meat, grain, and other agricultural products by promoting competitive trading.

· Food Safety and Inspection Service www.fsis.usda.gov/index.htm - This office inspects and monitors
meat, poultry and egg products in order to ensure that they are not diseased or chemically contaminated
when sold to the consumer.

· Food and Nutrition Service www.fns.usda.gov/fns/ - The FNS administers programs including food
stamps, school lunches and the Women, Infants and Children nutrition program.

· Center for Nutrition Policy and Promotion http://www.usda.gov/cnpp/  – The CNPP educates,
promotes and advocates nutrition, and works for the general advancement of healthy eating programs.

· Farm Service Agency www.rma.usda.gov/ - The FSA aids farmers through loans and conservation
programs in order to safeguard farmers from natural disasters and monetary emergencies.

· Commodity Credit Corporation http://www.fsa.usda.gov/dam/fmd/ccc/CCCMisGoals.htm - The CCC
encourages efficiency in using commodity and emergency programs, in order to stabilize farming prices
and finance programs.

· Risk Management Agency www.rma.usda.gov  – This agency stabilizes the agricultural economy
through strong and stable crop insurance programs.

· Foreign Agricultural Service www.fas.usda.gov/ - The FAS oversees foreign market information,
including agricultural laws, economic issues and the environment, in order to ensure that agricultural
products can be sold competitively abroad.

· Agricultural Research Service http://www.ars.usda.gov/ - The ARS conducts research in order to solve
agricultural problems concerning food safety, nutrition, and stability in the agricultural economy.

· Cooperative State Research, Education, and Extension Service www.reeusda.gov/ - This service joins
the educational and research efforts of the USDA.

· Economic Research Service www.ers.usda.gov – The ERS is responsible for the USDA’s economic
research for the general public and federal government.

· National Agricultural Statistics Service www.usda.gov/nass/ - The NASS collects and analyzes
statistical data on food supply, prices and wages in the agricultural industry.

· Forest Service www.fs.fed.us/links/forests.html - The Forest Service ensures the health and beauty of
the nation’s forests through strong land management.

· Natural Resources Conservation Service www.nrcs.usda.gov/ - The NRCS aids private farmers,
ranchers and other private landowners make natural resource conservation efforts voluntarily.

· Office of Community Development www.ocdweb.sc.egov.usda.gov/ - The OCD administers rural
community development programs to promote self-sustaining, long-term economic and community
development in rural areas.
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· Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management http://www.ocrwm.doe.gov/ - This office
manages the nuclear waste fund and federal programs for recommending, constructing, and
operating repositories for disposal of high-level radioactive materials.

· Environmental Management Office http://www.em.doe.gov/index4.html - The Environmental
Management Office directs the assessment and cleanup of inactive waste sites and facilities.

· Office of Science http://www.sc.doe.gov/ - The Office of Science manages the Department's
program of basic and applied physical and energy research.

· Federal Energy Regulatory Commission www.ferc.gov/– FERC is an independent commission
that regulates some of the sale, rates and transmission of energy. 

· Southeastern Power Administration  http://www.federalregister.com/hpage/spa.html - The
Southeastern Power Administration directs the transmission and disposition of surplus electric
power and energy generated at reservoir projects in the States of West Virginia, Virginia, North
Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, Florida, and Alabama.

· Southwestern Power Administration http://www.swpa.gov/ - The Southwestern Power
Administration is responsible for the sale and disposition of electric power and energy in the
States of Arkansas, Kansas, Louisiana, Missouri, Oklahoma, and Texas.

· Western Area Power Administration http://www.wapa.gov/ - WAPA directs the Federal electric
power-marketing and transmission functions in 15 central and western states.

· Bonneville Power Administration http://www.bpa.gov/indexmain.shtml - The BPA markets
power produced by the Federal Columbia River Power System.

Department of Health and Human Services www.hhs.gov – The Department of Health and
Human Services is the government’s primary agency for overseeing the people’s health and well-being.  This
includes more than 300 programs ranging from food safety, to medical research, to drug abuse prevention.
The agency often provides grants to local authority, working with state, county and tribal governments to
enact programs and provide essential services.  Employees of the Department of Health and Human
Services work in:   
· Office of the Secretary of Health and Human Services http://www.hhs.gov/agencies/ios.html - The

OS provides managerial leadership to HHS and advises the President on health and welfare issues.
· Administration for Children and Families http://www.acf..hhs.gov/ - The Administration for

Children and Families (ACF) is responsible for Federal programs which provide services to
children and families, such as Head Start and the new state federal welfare program.

· Administration on Aging http://www.aoa.gov/ - The Administration on Aging supports the
elderly through a variety of programs including "meals on wheels.”  It also advises on health and
welfare policy with regard the elderly.

· Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality http://www.ahrq.gov/ - AHRQ supports health
care related research to improve health care quality, safety, and access.  

· Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/ - This office’s
mission encompasses all facets of safety regarding exposure to hazardous substances from waste
sites.  It conducts a variety of studies and assessments at waste sites identified by the EPA across
the nation.  

· Centers for Disease Control and Prevention http://www.cdc.gov/ - The CDC researches
disease, monitors for disease outbreaks, and tracks statistics regarding diseases and disease
prevention.  

· Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services http://www.cms.hhs.gov/schip/ - This office
(formerly the Health Care Financing Administration) manages and oversees the nation’s
Medicare and Medicaid and State Children’s Health Insurance programs.
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· Food and Drug Administration http://www.fda.gov/ - The FDA monitors and assures the safety
of a variety of products, including foods, cosmetics, pharmaceuticals, biological products, and
medical devices.

· Health Resources and Services Administration http://www.hrsa.gov/ - The HRSA aims to
improve Americans access to quality healthcare by expanding health services to underserved
groups.   The Administration oversees 643 community and migrant health centers, and 144
primary care programs for the homeless and residents of public housing.

· Indian Health Service http://www.ihs.gov/ - With the goals of raising the health of American
Indians “to the highest level,” the IHS supports a network of 37 hospitals, 60 health centers, 3
school health centers, 46 health stations and 34 urban Indian health centers.

· National Institutes of Health http://www.nih.gov/ - The NIH includes 27 separate institutes and
centers, which combined serve as “the world's premier medical research organization.” 
Altogether, the institutes support 35,000 research projects and studies.

· Program Support Center http://www.psc.gov/ - This unique office receives no federal funding
and runs on a fee-for service model providing support services to HHS and other federal agencies. 

· Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration http://www.samhsa.gov/ -
SAMHSA is the federal office that oversees federal substance abuse and mental health services
programs.  In addition to providing program block grants to states, SMAHSA also releases
statistics regarding substance abuse and researches strategies for preventing and overcoming drug
addiction.  

Department of Homeland Security www.dhs.gov/ - The Department of Homeland Security was
created in response to the terrorist attacks of Sept. 11. In what would become the largest reorganization of
the government since the 1940s, twenty-two separate domestic law enforcement agencies were combined into
one Department in 2002. The Department’s five major divisions are responsible for ensuring border and
transportation security, preparing for emergencies, protecting the nation’s infrastructure and developing new
technology to deal with threats. DHS also encompasses the U.S. Coast Guard, the Secret Service, and the
Bureau of Citizenship and Immigration Services. 
Employees of the Department of Homeland Security work in: 
· US Customs and Border Protection http://www.customs.gov - The CBP prevents terrorists and

terrorist weapons from entering the United States.  It is responsible for apprehending illegal
immigrants; protecting our agricultural and economic interests from harmful pests and diseases;
safeguarding American businesses from intellectual property theft; regulating and facilitating
international trade; collecting import duties; and enforcing U.S. trade laws.

· Transportation Security Administration www.tsa.gov - TSA protects the nation's
transportation systems to ensure freedom of movement for people and commerce.  It aims to set
the standard for excellence in transportation security through its people, processes, and
technologies.

· Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service www.aphis.usda.gov - The Inspection Service
creates rules, regulations, and programs to protect the health of plants and animals, as well as the
environment.

· Bureau of Citizenship and Immigration Services www.bcis.gov - The BCIS is responsible for
administering benefits and service activities for the immigration of relatives and workers, work
authorizations, adjustments of status, requests for asylum, and naturalization.  

· Federal Law Enforcement Training Center www.fletc.gov - FLETC’s mission is to serve as
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the Federal government’s leading standard and provider of world-class law enforcement training. 
It prepares new and experienced law enforcement professionals to fulfill their responsibilities in a
safe manner and at the highest level of proficiency.  

· Office of Domestic Preparedness www.ojp.usdoj.gov/odp - The ODP is the principal
component of DHS responsible for preparing the United States for acts of terrorism. It provides
training, funding for equipment, support for the planning and execution of exercises, and
technical assistance to help states and local jurisdiction prevent, plan for, and respond to acts of
terrorism.

· Federal Emergency Management Agency http://www.fema.gov - FEMA’s mission is to reduce
the loss of life and property by protecting our nation's critical infrastructure from all types of
hazards. This is accomplished through a comprehensive, risk-based, emergency management
program involving mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery.

· US Coast Guard www.uscg.mil/uscg.shtm - The Coast Guard’s mission is to protect the public,
the environment, and U.S. economic interests—in the nation’s ports and waterways, along the
coast, on international waters, or in any maritime region as required to support national security.

· Secret Service www.secretservice.gov - The Secret Service protects foreign missions, the
President and Vice President, their families and residences, heads of state, and other designated
individuals, buildings, and events.  It also investigates threats and violations of laws including
counterfeiting, financial crimes, and computer-based attacks. 

Department of Housing and Urban Development http://www.hud.gov/ - HUD is the agency
tasked directly with meeting the needs of the nation’s cities and ensuring America’s families access to decent,
safe and affordable housing. HUD’s biggest programs include insuring mortgages for single and multi-family
homes, extending loans for home improvement and purchasing mobile homes, channeling funds from
investors into the mortgage industry, making direct loans for construction or rehabilitation of housing projects
for the elderly and the handicapped, providing federal housing subsidies for low- and moderate-income
families, providing grants to States and communities for community development activities, and promoting
and enforcing fair housing and equal housing access laws.
Employees of the Department of Housing and Urban Development work in:
· Community Planning and Development  http://www.hud.gov/offices/cpd/ - The CPD administers

grant programs including community development Block grants, grants to house the homeless and
rehabilitate affordable housing, and grants to historically black colleges.

· Office of Healthy Homes and Lead Hazard Control http://www.hud.gov/offices/lead/leadfin.cfm
– This office increases awareness of the dangers of lead-based paint poisoning and the options for
detection, risk reduction, and abatement and cost-effective programs to implement these safety
measures.

· Fair Housing and Equal Opportunity http://www.hud.gov/offices/fheo/ - The FHEO
administers rules and regulations that bar discrimination in public and private housing.

· Public and Indian Housing http://www.hud.gov/offices/pih/  – The office of Public and Indian
Housing funds and manages public housing programs, and runs social and community-
development programs associated with public and Indian housing.

· Government National Mortgage Association (Ginnie Mae) http://www.ginniemae.gov – This
office guarantees mortgage-backed securities composed of FHA-insured or VA-guaranteed mortgage
loans.  Private lenders issue these loans in order to increase the supply of credit available for housing.

· Office of Housing http://www.hud.gov/offices/hsg/ - The Office of Housing oversees construction
and financing of new and rehabilitated housing, administers low-income housing programs, and
protects consumers against property fraud.
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· Federal Housing Enterprise Oversight http://www.ofheo.gov/ - This office ensures Fannie Mae
and Freddie Mac are operating safely and with sufficient capital.

· Office of Multi-Family Housing Assistance Restructuring http://www.hud.gov/offices/omhar/
- OMHAR ensures housing for the poor by working with landlords and tenants. The office
subsidizes buildings that may soon be put on the market and sold - which would lead to higher
rent and the potentially displacement of low-income residents.

Department of the Interior www.doi.gov – The Department of the Interior manages the nation’s
natural resources, from land and water to coal and natural gas. By monitoring the extraction of natural
resources, it works to efficiently use and protect the environment.  Also, the department houses the office
responsible for overseeing the affairs of Native Americans.  Employees of the Interior Department work
in:
· United States Fish and Wildlife Service www.fws.gov  - The FWS manages more than 93 million

acres of land and water consisting of more than 500 national wildlife refuges, thousands of small
wetlands, and other special management areas.

· National Park Service www.nps.gov  - The National Park Service manages 375 units in the
National Park System, including national parks and monuments, scenic parkways, preserves,
trails, rivers, seashores, lakeshores, and recreation areas and historic sites.

· United States Geological Survey www.usgs.gov  - This office researches global climate change
prepares maps and collects and interprets data on energy and mineral and water resources. USGS
information is used to study climate change and to predict earthquakes. 

· Bureau of Indian Affairs www.bia.gov, www.doi.gov/bureau-indian-affairs.html The Bureau of
Indian Affairs manages programs designed to encourage and assist Indians and Native Alaskans.
Programs include administration of the Indian Trust Fund and management of social services
programs in Native American communities.

· Minerals Management Service www.mms.gov – The MMS evaluates mineral resources in the
Outer Continental Shelf, and offers leases and management of those areas. 

· Bureau of Land Management www.blm.gov – The Bureau of Land Management deals with 264
million surface acres of public land and the resources it contains including timber, solid minerals,
oil and gas, geothermal energy, wildlife habitat, endangered plant and animal species, rangeland
vegetation, recreation and cultural values, wild and scenic rivers, designated conservation and
wilderness areas, and open space. 

· Bureau of Reclamation www.usbr.gov – This office manages, develops, and protects water and
related resources for public use.

· Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement www.osmre.gov  - OSMRE assists
states in operating a nationwide program to protect society and the environment from the adverse
effects of coal mining, and ensure surface coal mining can be conducted without permanent
damage to land and water resources.

 
Department of Justice www.usdoj.gov – Headed by the Attorney General, the Department of
Justice is the major law enforcement branch of the federal government.  It makes sure that federal laws
aimed at protecting the public, including immigration and naturalization statutes, consumer safeguards,
criminal prosecutions, and laws promoting competitive business practices are implemented.  The FBI also
falls under the authority of the Department of Justice.  Employees of the Justice Department work in: 
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· Antitrust Division http://www.usdoj.gov/atr/ - The Antitrust Division promotes and maintains open
and competitive markets by enforcing federal antitrust laws through investigation, indictment and
prosecution of violators.

· Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms & Explosives www.atf.gov/ - This bureau is responsible
for reducing crime and enforcing federal laws relating to alcohol, tobacco and firearms. It is also
responsible for industry regulation, investigation of these industries, and for collecting revenue. 

· Civil Division http://www.usdoj.gov/civil/home.html - The Civil Division represents the U.S.
government in cases ranging from commercial litigation, such as contract disputes, to defense of
government programs.

· Civil Rights Division www.usdoj.gov/crt - The Civil Rights Division enforces federal statutes
prohibiting discrimination on the basis of race, sex, disability, religion, and national origin.

· Criminal Division http://www.usdoj.gov/criminal/ - The Criminal Division develops, enforces,
and supervises the use of federal criminal and approves or monitors sensitive areas of law
enforcement such as participation in the Witness Security Program and the use of electronic
surveillance. Areas of responsibility include prosecuting and managing cases in areas including
computer crime, child exploitation and money laundering.

· Environment and Natural Resources Division http://www.usdoj.gov/enrd/ - ENRD litigates
cases ranging from protection of endangered species, to global climate change, to cleaning up the
nation's hazardous waste sites. Key responsibilities include enforcing civil and criminal
environmental laws, and defending environmental challenges to government activities.

· Tax Division http://www.usdoj.gov/tax/ - The Tax Division prosecutes criminal cases involving
tax fraud, and represents the government in tax-related disputes.

· Federal Bureau of Investigations www.fbi.gov – The FBI is the principal investigative arm of the
Department of Justice. It is charged with gathering and reporting facts, locating witnesses, and
compiling evidence in cases involving federal jurisdiction. The bureau focuses mainly on organized
crime and drugs, counterterrorism, white-collar crime, foreign counterintelligence, and violent crime.

· Bureau of Prisons http://www.bop.gov/ - The Bureau of Prisons is in charge of the national
prison system.  It makes sure that criminals are properly kept from harming the public upon
conviction, and provides programs for rehabilitation during incarceration. 

· United States Marshals Service www.usdoj.gov/marshals - The Marshal Service provides
security for 800 judicial facilities and nearly 2,000 judges. It is responsible for apprehending
federal fugitives, transporting thousands of federal prisoners annually, executing court orders and
arrest warrants, and managing and selling seized property forfeited to the government.

· U.S. National Central Bureau http://www.usdoj.gov/usncb/ - This office represents the United
States in INTERPOL, the International Criminal Police Organization. INTERPOL is an
association of 178 countries dedicated to promoting mutual assistance among law enforcement
authorities in the prevention and suppression of international crime.

· Drug Enforcement Administration http://www.usdoj.gov/dea/ - The DEA investigates large-
scale narcotic violators who operate at interstate and international levels.

· Office of Justice Programs http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov/ - The Office of Justice Programs collects
statistical data, studies and analyses emerging criminal justice issues, studies approaches to
addressing these issues, and evaluates existing justice programs.

· Executive Office for Immigration Review http://www.usdoj.gov/eoir - The EOIR handles the
administration and interpretation of immigration statutes.

· United States Parole Commission www.usdoj.gov/uspc/parole.htm. - The Parole Commission
has sole authority to grant, modify, or revoke paroles of eligible U.S. prisoners serving sentences
of more than one year, and is responsible for the supervision of parolees. 

· Office of Community Oriented Policing Services www.cops.usdoj.gov/ - This office funds
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100,000 new police officers in community policing roles, reinforces partnerships that will sustain
community policing, and evaluates and demonstrates the effectiveness of community policing.

· Foreign Claims Settlement Commission http://www.usdoj.gov/fcsc/ - This Commission is a quasi-
judicial, independent agency within the Department of Justice. It is responsible for adjudicating
claims of U.S. nationals against foreign governments.
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Department of Labor www.dol.gov - The Department of Labor administers and enforces laws and
regulations that ensure safe working conditions, minimum hourly pay and overtime. Through its varied
programs, the department also works to meet the special needs of certain groups in the labor market including
the disabled, the elderly and minorities. The Department of Labor also provides information on employment,
such as job banks, unemployment benefits, and health regulations governing the workplace. 
Employees of the Labor Department work in:
· Bureau of International Labor Affairs http://www.dol.gov/dol/ilab/ - This bureau assists in

creating international trade, economic, and immigration policies in order raise labor standards both
within the United States, and abroad.

· Women’s Bureau http://www.dol.gov/dol/wb/ - The Women’s Bureau promotes high standards for
policies that protect women’s welfare, salaries, and job advancement opportunities within the
workplace.

· Workforce Security Administration http://workforcesecurity.doleta.gov/ - The WSA interprets
Federal unemployment legislation, and aids states in complying with that legislation.  Through this,
the administration seeks to help workers find jobs, and companies find qualified workers.

· Employee Benefits Security Administration http://www.dol.gov/ebsa/ -EBSA is responsible for
protecting workers’ pension programs, as well as other benefit programs, by educating workers on
their rights and plan officials on their statutory responsibilities.

· Employment Standards Administration www.dol.gov/dol/esa - The Employment Standards
Administration monitors and enforces minimum wage and overtime standards in the workplace.

· Occupational Safety and Health Administration www.osha.gov - OSHA sets and enforces
workplace health and safety standards, in order to prevent injuries and save lives.

· Mine Safety and Health Administration http://www.msha.gov/ - The Mine Safety and Health
Administration enforces the Mine Act by helping to reduce injuries in the nation’s mines through
health and safety regulations.

· Bureau of Labor Statistics http://www.bls.gov/ - The Bureau of Labor Statistics collects and
analyzes data on the state of the nation’s labor economics. The bureau is primarily concerned
with measuring the growth of the economy, as well as improving these measurement standards.

· Employment and Training Administration http://www.doleta.gov/ - This administration seeks to
improve the quality of the workforce through training programs, and to create and oversee effective
job placement agencies. 

· Veterans Employment and Training Service http://www.dol.gov/dol/vets/ - VETS helps veterans,
reservists and the National Guard find employment.  It is also responsible for helping veterans, and
others, obtain workplace benefits.

· Office of Disability Employment Policy http://www.dol.gov/dol/odep/ - The goal of this office
is to help those with disabilities find employment through research, analysis and outreach efforts.

Department of State www.state.gov - The State Department is responsible for foreign affairs and
diplomatic events.  In implementing the President’s foreign policy, the State Department promotes freedom
and security abroad.  In addition, it coordinates conferences with foreign leaders to create treaties and
manages U.S. representation abroad.  This department also works to protect the safety of U.S. citizens when
they travel abroad.
Employees of the State Department work in:
· The Bureau of Arms Control http://www.state.gov/t/ac/ - The AC’s primary role is in advising

during arms control negotiations.  The bureau also makes sure that countries fulfill their
responsibilities in living up to the terms of arms treaties.

· The Bureau of Consular Affairs http://travel.state.gov/  - The Bureau of Consular Affairs
advises embassies and consulates on variety of issues that U.S. citizens may face abroad,
including international adoption, deaths, citizenship, and arrests. 
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· Office of Counterterrorism http://www.state.gov/s/ct/ - The Office of Counterterrorism is
responsible for creating counterterrorism policy and working with other nations in combating
terrorism. 

· The Bureau of Democracy, Human Rights, and Labor http://www.state.gov/g/drl/ – The DRL
evaluates the state of human rights in foreign nations, creating reports that summarize advances in
human rights and abuses.  Through partnerships with other countries, the DRL works to advance
democracy, and strengthen freedom and human rights.

· The Bureau of Diplomatic Security http://www.state.gov/m/ds/- The DS is responsible for
ensuring the safety of diplomats and their employees through law enforcement and security
procedures. 

· The Bureau of Economic and Business Affairs http://www.state.gov/e/eb - The EB makes sure
that America’s economic goals conform with our goals in foreign affairs.  The EB advises on
economic sanctions and represents America’s views in the International Monetary Fund, and the
World Trade Organization. 

· The Bureau of Intelligence and Research http://www.state.gov/s/inr/ - The INR, as the chief
intelligence provider to the Secretary of State, gathers information on global issues relating to
America’s national security and economy.

· The Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs
http://www.state.gov/g/inl/ – The INL advises the Secretary of State and the President on the state
of the drug trade.  The bureau is responsible for developing programs that combat drug sales and
the crime associated with narcotics.

· The Bureau of International Organization Affairs http://www.state.gov/p/io/  – The IO is
responsible for creating U.S. policy on international organizations like the United Nations.  The
IO also aids representatives of the United States in participating in international organizations. 

· The Nonproliferation Bureau http://www.state.gov/t/np/ – This bureau is responsible for
preventing the proliferation of weapons of mass destruction, and biological and chemical
weapons.  In preventing the buildup of these weapons, the bureau is guided by international
treaties such as the Nuclear Nonproliferation Treaty. 

· The Bureau of Oceans, and International Environmental and Scientific Affairs
http://www.state.gov/g/oes/ - The OES advises the Executive branch on global environmental
issues and outer space. Chief among the concerns of the OES are the protection of the planet’s
natural resources, and America’s national security through the use of oceans. 

· The Bureau of Political-Military Affairs http://www.state.gov/t/pm/ – This bureau governs
arms sales, peacekeeping issues, and the political aspects of military affairs. The bureau also
works closely with the Department of Defense in coordinating the military agenda. 

· The Bureau of Population, Refugees, and Migration http://www.state.gov/g/prm/ - The PRM
provides relief to refugees worldwide, and grants many refugees United States citizenship,
permitting them to live permanently in the U.S. 

· The Chief of Protocol http://www.state.gov/s/cpr/ - The Office of Protocol is responsible for all
ceremonial events, ensuring that proper presidential procedures are maintained abroad.

· The Bureau of Verification and Compliance http://www.state.gov/t/vc/ - The VC makes sure
that countries comply with international arms treaties.  The bureau works closely with
intelligence agencies to obtain their information.

· Office of War Crimes Issues http://www.state.gov/s/wci/ - This office notifies the Secretary of
State and the President on any commitment of war crimes.  The WCI tracks violations, most of
which are large scale, such as genocide. 

· International Women’s Issues http://www.state.gov/g/wi/ - This office promotes the political
involvement and economic freedom for women in their own foreign countries.  It investigates the
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state of women’s human rights abroad. 

Department of Transportation www.dot.gov - This department controls all vehicular issues.  Cars,
trucks, trains, boats, and airplanes all fall under the Department of Transportation’s authority.  The
department is responsible for ensuring the safety of these vehicles, as well as your safety when you travel on
roads.  The agency sets national transportation policy, builds and maintains the transportation infrastructure,
and in general makes it possible for Americans to go home for the holidays, away on vacation, and even to
and from work. 
Employees of the Department of Transportation work in:
· Federal Aviation Administration www.faa.gov - The FAA focuses on the safety issues concerning

civil aviation, improving flight technology, creating a uniform system of air traffic control, and
conducting research on the National Airspace System.

· Federal Highway Administration www.fha.dot.gov - The goal of this administration is to improve
the nation’s highway system by making roads safer in design and condition, and providing access
to the nation’s national parks. 

· Federal Railroad Administration www.fra.dot.gov. – The FRA ensures that railroads are safe for
travel, administers funds, and conducts research to improve upon the condition of railroads.

· National Highway Traffic Safety Administration http://www.nhtsa.dot.gov/ - NHTSA was
established in order to reduce the number of vehicular crashes, injuries and deaths. 

· Federal Transit Administration www.fta.dot.gov – The Federal Transit Administration was
established to improve upon mass transportation vehicles and facilities, as well as promote mass
transportation systems as an economical alternative to commuting. 

· Maritime Administration www.marad.dot.gov - The Maritime Administration focuses on aiding
the merchant marines in operating, and ensures that the merchant marine is capable of aiding the
military in times of war.

· St. Lawrence Seaway Development Corporation www.seaway.dot.gov - This agency is dedicated
to maintaining a deep passageway through the Great Lakes so that ships may easily pass through.

· Research and Special Programs Administration http://www.rspa.dot.gov/ - The Research and
Special Programs Administration has a broad range of responsibilities.  Among these responsibilities
are protection from the transportation of hazardous waste, transmodal transportation issues, and
responding to transportation emergencies. 

· Bureau of Transportation Statistics www.bts.gov - This group collects data on transportation in
order to educate officials and the people on transportation issues. It is responsible for data collection,
analysis and reporting.

· Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration www.fmcsa.dot.gov - The primary goal of the
FMCSA is to prevent vehicular fatalities through enforcement of safety rules, as well as improving
safety education methods.

· Surface Transportation Board http://www.stb.dot.gov/ - This Board is responsible for judging
transportation disputes and interstate commercial transportation issues.  

Department of the Treasury www.treas.gov – The Treasury Department is responsible for creating
domestic and international financial, economic, and tax policy. The department also prints our money,
manages the public debt, and, through the Secretary, serves as the government’s chief financial officer.  The
treasury is also the department that collects your taxes every year. Less obvious is the treasury’s other major
role – law enforcement. The Secret Service, which both guards the President and investigates financial crime,
is a treasury agency. Also, the Customs Service manages the goods that come in, or that are prevented from
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coming in from overseas. The Treasury even runs the federal government’s training school for all federal law
enforcement agencies.
Employees of the Treasury Department work in:
· United States Mint www.usmint.gov - The Mint is primarily responsible for producing money.  It

also creates bullion coins and national medals.
· Bureau of the Public Debt www.publicdebt.treas.gov. - This bureau manages the public debt by

borrowing money in order to operate the Federal government.
· Internal Revenue Service www.irs.gov - The IRS is responsible for collecting taxes and enforcing

most internal revenue laws. However, these revenue laws do not include those pertaining to firearms,
explosives, tobacco or alcohol.

· Financial Management Service www.fms.treas.gov – The FMS manages the federal government’s
monetary systems, and is the main currency-disbursing group.

· Office of Thrift Supervision http://www.ots.treas.gov/ – This agency is the primary regulator of
all federal and many state-chartered thrift institutions, which include savings banks and savings
and loan associations.

· Bureau of Engraving and Printing http://www.moneyfactory.com - The Bureau of Engraving and
Printing is the primary producer of security documents, which include Federal Reserve Notes,
naturalization certificates, and most stamps.  

· United States Customs Service www.customs.gov - The Customs Service is responsible for seizing
contraband and illegal drugs, establishing customs officers to collect duties on goods, and enforcing
customs laws.

· Office of the Comptroller of the Currency http://www.occ.treas.gov/ - This office supervises and
regulates the nation’s banks by checking their books and approving charters for new banks.  It also
has the power to enforce bank closures.

· Office of Foreign Assets Control http://www.ustreas.gov/ofac/ - The Office of Foreign Assets
Control administers and enforces economic and trade sanctions against targeted foreign countries,
state terrorism sponsors and narcotics traffickers.  

Department of Veterans Affairs www.va.gov - If you have served your country, the VA is there
to serve you. Best known for its healthcare system, the VA also provides social support services and
administers pensions and other veteran’s benefits including education programs.  In addition, the VA works
to promoting the hiring of veterans, so that all veterans have a job. 
Employees of the Department of Veterans Affairs work in:
· National Cemetery Administration http://www.cem.va.gov/index.htm - The National  Cemetery

Administration operates national cemeteries, and furnishes headstones and markers for the unmarked
graves of U.S. veterans worldwide.

· Center for Minority Veterans http://www.va.gov/minority_new/main/index.asp - The Center for
Minority Veterans promotes the use of VA benefits, programs, and services by minority veterans and
assesses the needs of minority group members.

· Center for Women Veterans http://www.va.gov/womenvet/ - This agency advises the Secretary
on women veterans’ issues, and evaluates VA programs, policies, and practices to ensure they are
responsive and accessible to eligible women veterans.

· Veterans Health Administration http://www.va.gov/about_va/orgs/vha/index.htm - The VHA
provides hospital, nursing home, outpatient medical care, and dental care to eligible veterans of
military service.

· Veterans Benefits Administration http://www.vba.va.gov/ - The Benefits Administration
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provides information, advice, and assistance to veterans and their dependents.   It works with
other agencies in developing employment and housing opportunities for veterans.

· Compensation and Pension Service http://www.vba.va.gov/bln/21/ - The Compensation and
Pension Service is responsible for claims including disability compensation and pension,
specially adapted housing, accrued benefits, survivors' claims for death compensation, forfeiture
determinations, and a benefits protection program for minors. 

· Education Service http://www.gibill.va.gov/ - The Education Service is responsible for the
Montgomery GI Bill, assistance programs for dependents, post-Vietnam era veterans.  It also
manages other pilot programs, school approvals, compliance surveys, and work-study programs.

· Vocational Rehabilitation and Employment Service http://www.vba.va.gov/bln/vre/ - This
agency is responsible for outreach, motivation, evaluation, counseling, training, employment, and
other rehabilitation services to disabled veterans.

· Board of Veterans' Appeals http://www.va.gov/vbs/bva/ - The Board enters the final appellate
decisions in claims of entitlement to veterans' benefits.
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ALTERNATIVE POINTS OF ENTRY INTO GOVERNMENT SERVICE

For law students and graduates who want to work in the government but not necessarily as lawyers,
there are a variety of alternative routes into federal public service.  Chief among these are the
Presidential Management Intern Program and the government’s formal competitive hiring process.
The information on the following pages provides insight, definitions, and general information for
those considering work in the federal government.  Some information will apply more to those
seeking a job outside the legal arena; however, other information—such as entry level legal
pay—will be useful to law students and graduates.  In any case, all of the information is helpful to
know for anyone applying for work with the federal government.   

Presidential Management Intern Program

The Presidential Management Intern program – best known as PMI - is a two-year program open
to all graduate students in their final year before receiving a degree. And that does mean all. If you
just got your master’s in art history or your Ph.D. in medieval poetry, you can still be a PMI - as
long as you have some demonstrable interest in public policy. 

Applicants must first be nominated by their school and then make it through the program’s rigorous
one-day evaluation process. Finalists then have to go through the process of finding a job. Most
make matches at a program-sponsored job far or through the PMI Web site. Finalists are not
guaranteed a job.

PMI positions are structured by the individual agencies and differ widely. All include some training
opportunities and a rotational assignment to another agency or branch of government.  PMI
assignments include domestic and international issues, technology, science, criminal justice, health,
financial management and many other fields in support of public service programs. 

PMIs are currently appointed at the GS-9 level and after a year are eligible for promotion to GS-11.
After two years, PMIs are eligible for conversion to permanent positions and are eligible for
promotion to GS-12. To check out the salaries for these grade levels, and for additional information,
see http://www.pmi.opm.gov/. 

Competitive Service

Most jobs in the federal government are part of the competitive service.  These jobs are open to the
public and regulated by special government employment laws.  When there is an opening, the
position must be posted on the Office of Personnel Management’s USAJobs web site.  The office
must then fill the position by using a special merit based system that looks at the applicants KSAs:
Knowledge Skills and Abilities (see What the Terms Mean for more info on KSAs).  The
government hires the majority of civil service positions through the competitive process, though
legal positions are exempted from the competitive service (hence the reason it is identified as part
of the excepted service).
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DEFINITIONS, TERMS & FORMS IN THE FEDERAL APPLICATION PROCESS

Exploring employment opportunities and applying for jobs in the federal government requires a
basic familiarity with the unique definitions, terms, and forms that are important to the process.

Superior Academic Achievement – In some cases, applicants who do not have the requisite
experience or education to qualify for a job are nonetheless considered qualified if they graduate in
the upper third of their college class, have a grade point average of B or better or belong to a
nationally recognized honors society like Phi Beta Kappa.

Career-Conditional Employee - A career-conditional employee must complete three years service
before becoming a full career or “status” employee. This three-year period is more or less
probationary. After those three years, if you pass, you become an official “career” employee – which
means you have a better shot of staying on board if there’s downsizing.  This status is supposed to
confer upon the employee the stamp of approval for advancement and growth and gives you an edge
when applying for other federal jobs down the road.

Competitive Service – Most civil service jobs fall under this category. Competitive jobs are those
that must be filled through a fair, open and merit-based process. 

Declaration for Federal Employment – A form that may be required during the job-application
process or before a candidate begins work that certifies eligibility for federal employment (e.g. U.S.
citizenship, compliance with draft registration requirements, etc.). The form also asks questions
about personal debt, employment history and criminal background.

Excepted Service – Federal positions that are not covered by certain rules and regulations governing
personnel practices in the standard civil service system.

Federal Resume – There actually is no prescribed form, though some vacancy postings will refer
to it. In reality, the term simply refers to a resume that contains all the information required to apply
for a federal job.  

Form C (OPM form 1203) – An optical scan form—like a high school standardized test—on which
applicants fill out the answers to employment questionnaires if required for the application process.
Some agencies are now able to skip this pencil and paper process and have applicants answer the
questions on line. 

General Schedule (GS) – The general pay scale system for white collar jobs in the federal
government.  Positions are identified by GS level from GS 1 to GS 18.  

Knowledge, Skills and Abilities or KSAs - The necessary characteristics belonging to an applicant
qualified for a particular job. Most job postings ask applicants to write a supplemental statement
about specific KSAs listed on the announcement. There is no set format for this supplemental
information.
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Occupational Questionnaire –Questionnaire included in some applications aimed at assessing
candidate qualifications through detailed multiple choice or yes-and-no questions. 

Optional Application for Federal Employment (OF 612) – The closest thing that actually exists
to the federal resume form.  This can be used as the resume portion of your application for virtually
all federal jobs.

OF510 – An OPM booklet, also known as “applying for a federal job,” that lists all of the
information that must be on a federal resume.

Outstanding Scholar Designation - The Outstanding Scholar Program is a special hiring authority
that enables agencies to select entry or near-entry level candidates based on their scholastic record.
Candidates with a 3.5 grade point average or better may be hired directly without a competitive
process.

Qualifications and Availability Form – An optical scan form—like a high school standardized
test—on which applicants fill out the answers to employment questionnaires if required for the
application process. Some agencies are now able to skip this pencil and paper process and have
applicants answer the questions on line.

Public Trust Designation – Positions which require applicants to undergo a background check

Qualifications Standards Operating Manual – The Office of Personnel Management’s guide to
qualifications required for a particular job at a particular grade level.  This is primarily for the use
of the people who are doing the hiring but some job postings may refer applicants to it for more
information about qualifications. 

Status candidates – Job applicants currently working for the federal government or certain former
federal employees 

SF-86 - Security questionnaire required for certain positions. The form asks questions regarding
education, past and current employers, police records, financial situation, drug and alcohol usage,
etc. 

Term position – Under term employment, the employing agency hires the term appointee to work
for a limited period of time, lasting for more than one year but not to exceed four years.

Upward Mobility – A program agencies can use to groom talent by creating or restructuring
positions so they can be filled by promising entry-level applicants who will then be offered
structured training and other career-development opportunities.

Veterans Preference – In the competitive process, veterans receive preference points that are added
to their scores
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FEDERAL GOVERNMENT SALARY INFORMATION 

Serving as a lawyer or manager in the federal government may not provide as large a salary as a
major metropolitan law firm, but it offers a salary that is competitive with many public service
opportunities.  Moreover, government employment provides a variety of unique challenges and
rewards that can make the job worth the sacrifice of a private sector salary.  

To get an idea of how much federal jobs pay, a good place to start is the Office of Personnel
Management’s website (http://www.opm.gov/oca/payrates).  Most white-collar federal jobs fall
under the “General Schedule” or “GS” pay scale.  In this scale, jobs are ranked according to level
of responsibility and difficulty and are assigned corresponding “grades.”  Grades start at GS-1 and
go up to GS-15, and then into the Senior Executive Service (SES). As your grade goes up, your
salary rises with it. Within each grade level there are several steps, often as many as 10. Length of
tenure in a position and job performance can bump employees up by steps within their grade.

College graduates with a four-year degree typically enter the system at GS-5 or GS-7.  Master’s
level graduates usually enter at a GS-9 or higher, depending upon number of years of work
experience.  Special rules allow agencies to pay attorneys more, so law school graduates usually
start at a GS-11 or GS-12, depending on whether the applicant is entering an honors program or has
experience from a clerkship.  This will generally mean a starting salary somewhere between $47,000
and $62,000.  Why the wide range? The federal government has base pay tables and locality pay
tables.  In metropolitan areas such as San Francisco or Washington, DC, federal employees earn a
higher salary to compensate for the higher cost of living, earning as much as 12 percent more in base
pay.  Areas that do not have a locality pay formula are covered by the “rest of the United States”
formula.

Finally, while these pay tables are a good reference, keep in mind that there are always exceptions.
For instance, for certain hard-to-fill positions, departments and agencies may be able to offer a
"special pay rate" that allows them to increase salaries for potential recruits. Examples of such
departments and agencies include the Securities and Exchange Commission, Department of Justice,
Internal Revenue Service (Office of Chief Counsel), General Accounting Office, Department of Commerce,
Department of Defense, the Army and Air Force JAG, Housing and Urban Development, and Health
and Human Services. In addition, Federal employees, can receive up to $6,000 per year in student
loan repayments, and up to $40,000 total. In return, they must commit to at least three years of
agency service. The federal loan repayment program is still relatively new, but several agencies have
started to use it as a recruitment and retention incentive. In 2002, the federal government provided
$3.1 million in student loan repayments to federal workers, and this figure is projected to increase
in 2003. Sixteen agencies provided loan repayment assistance programs; the Department of State
and the General Accounting Organization provided the most loan repayments. To learn more about
the  specific agencies that offer loan repayments, visit 
 http://www.opm.gov/oca/pay/studentloan/index.asp.
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FEDERAL GOVERNMENT BENEFITS INFORMATION

Health Insurance

Federal employees can enroll in health insurance coverage for themselves and their families at
reasonable rates. They enjoy one of the widest selections of plans in the country. About 245 plans
participate in the health insurance program. Employees can choose among fee-for-service plans,
health maintenance organizations, and point-of-service plans. There is an annual open season during
which employees can change their enrollment.  Unlike a growing number of private sector health
benefits programs, Federal employees can continue their health insurance coverage into retirement
with a full Government contribution. Most enrollees pay just about one-fourth of the health benefits
premium.  See also: http://www.opm.gov/insure 

Holidays
Full-time Federal employees are entitled to ten paid holidays each year.  These holidays are listed
by year at http://www.opm.gov/fedhol/index.htm 

Annual Leave

Accrual of annual leave is based on the number of years served.  The rate of accumulation of leave
for full time employees is:

Length of Service Rate of Annual Leave Earned

1-3 years 4 hours every two weeks – 13 days per year
3-15 years 6 hours every two weeks – 20 days per year
Over 15 years 8 hours every two weeks – 26 days per year

Life Insurance

Most full-time and part-time employees are automatically enrolled in Basic Life Insurance equal to
their salary, rounded to the next $1,000, plus $2,000. The government pays one-third of the cost of
this group term insurance. Employees do not have to prove insurability -- no physical is required.
Basic coverage includes double benefits for accidental death and benefits for dismemberment.
Employees can also purchase Optional Insurance at their own expense.  Optional coverage includes
additional insurance on the employee’s life as well as coverage for the employee’s spouse and
eligible children, if any.  

Accelerated death benefits are available to terminally ill enrollees so that they can receive life
insurance proceeds while they are living. 
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Many large organizations are cutting life insurance benefits to retirees.  This is untrue in the Federal
Government, which allows life insurance to be continued into retirement. It can also be converted
to private coverage upon termination, without proof of insurability.  See also:
http://www.opm.gov/insure.
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TEN TIPS FOR LANDING A FEDERAL GOVERNMENT JOB

Whether you’re applying for a legal position as agency counsel or a competitive job as an analyst,
the tips below will help you understand and navigate the federal hiring process.  

1. Think creatively: One of the advantages of considering the federal government as a place
to work is that there are many opportunities in many places.  So you want to be a lawyer?
There are legal jobs in virtually every government agency, so take the time to look around
and think creatively.  Maybe you can combine your career aspirations with your life long
interest in space exploration by taking a legal position at NASA.  Looking for fun in the sun?
Weekends on the slopes?  Don’t let geography stop you: contrary to popular belief, the vast
majority of federal jobs – about 88 percent – are located outside the Washington, DC area.
The federal government has job opportunities literally worldwide. 

2. Know who does the hiring: While many people think of the federal government as a single
employer, this is not the case when it comes to hiring.  The hiring process in the government
is decentralized: each agency does its own.  This makes sense for a workforce of over 1.8
million civilian employees.  But it also means there is no single location to which to submit
an application.  The best source of information for federal job opportunities is USAJobs, a
website run by the U.S. Office of Personnel Management: http://www.usajobs.opm.gov/.

3.  Target your search: In addition to career opportunities in the legislative and judicial branch
of the federal government, there are over 70 individual departments and agencies in the
executive branch—by far the largest employer among the three branches.  The executive
branch agencies range in size from less than 100 employees to over 300,000.  The United
States Government Manual can help you narrow down your search to agencies that interest
you most.  The manual provides a brief description of every agency, its organization,
mission, and locations.  To download a free copy from the National Archives and Records
Administration, go to http://www.nara.gov.

4. Log onto the Web: The federal government has made a concerted effort to become
accessible to the public via the web.  Every government job that is open to candidates from
outside the government is posted on the previously mentioned www.usajobs.opm.gov.  Jobs
specifically for Students are at www.studentjobs.gov.  The Partnership for Public Service’s
website also offers useful information about the availability of jobs and how to apply:
www.ourpublicservice.org.  And, when you decide on the specific federal agencies in which
you have an interest, don’t forget to check out those agencies’ individual websites.   

5. Weigh the costs and benefits of a federal job: While starting salary is always an important
consideration, think carefully before you rule out a federal job on pay alone.  Don’t be fooled
by a private sector job that offers a higher starting salary but may offer lower tangible and
intangible benefits.  If doing meaningful work and making a difference for your country and
your community isn’t enough, consider the government’s benefit packages: the federal
health benefits program, thrift savings plan, and federal retirement system are among the best
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in the world.  Most agencies also offer flexible work schedules and other benefits that
promote a work-life balance.  Job security is another issue: you don’t risk losing a federal
job because of an economic downturn.  

6. Decide if you want a career or a short-term service opportunity:  The federal
government offers a number of creative ways for you to both serve your country and build
your resume without having to commit to the dreaded “rest of your life.”  Check out
Americorps (www.americorps.gov) or the Peace Corps (www.peacecorps.gov) for time-
limited commitments.  You also have the option to make federal service a career, or a shorter
term learning experience.  Some federal jobs start on a time-limited basis (typically one or
two years) but offer the possibility of converting to a career position at the end of that time.
Check out the federal career intern program (http://www.opm.gov/careerintern/), which is
used by a variety of different federal agencies.

7. Be prepared: When it comes to applying for a federal job, the more prepared you are ahead
of time, the better off you’ll be. For example, many federal job postings will ask you for a
college transcript, so why not have one available now?  Read the posting carefully and
follow the directions. Got questions?  Pick up the phone.  Virtually every federal job posting
lists a phone number and the name of a real, live person you can call for help if you don’t
understand the process. So call. Speaking of applications …

8. Be patient – the wait can be a good thing: Applying for and getting a government job can
be a lengthy process. Just because you haven’t heard from anyone two weeks after you
emailed your application doesn’t mean you’re out of the running.  Remember, federal jobs
must be filled based on merit. That means your uncle’s wife’s boss can’t get you in.  It also
means that the hiring process is an open competition that may take a little longer than you
might like.  But the good news is, in the end your experience, education, and competency
is what will matter most.  

9. Don’t panic: Frightening as they may look, those federal job applications are not really that
bad.  Most of the information requested is to help find the best person for the job—even if
it’s hard to see the relevance of some of it.  So go ahead and provide the information about
yourself in whatever format the application process requires.  Take, for example, those
KSA’s you’ll run into from time to time. This ubiquitous set of initials stands for
Knowledge, Skills and Abilities – the things you have to prove you have in order to get the
job. At first glance, it may look like you have to do this by writing a lengthy college-type
essay.  Wrong!  Federal agencies are not looking for William Faulkner; they just want to
know exactly what you know and what you’ve done.  Save the poetry for another time and
just write clearly and succinctly: application reviewers don’t want to read a long essay any
more than you want to write one!

10. Make the most of an unprecedented opportunity: More than half of all federal employees
may become eligible to retire in the next 5 years.  That’s a huge amount of experience and
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institutional memory walking out the door, and the government will need good, qualified
candidates to replace these people.   That said, you have a terrific opportunity to get some
great work—and life—experience in a government job. 
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Resource Materials for Information on Legal Employment in the
Federal Government 

(Prices current as of August 2003- Check with publisher for most current price.)
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SUGGESTED RESOURCE MATERIALS

“2000 Guide to Legal Washington”: Washington, DC: DC Bar.
 

This is available on the DC Bar’s Web site, www.dcbar.org, under For
Lawyers>Washington Lawyer>July/August 2000.  It is a resource directory with more
than 140 international, national and local organizations.  The guide includes information
on the general counsels of more than 60 Federal government agencies. 

Baxter, Neale, Opportunities in Federal Government Careers (1992).  Lincolnwood, IL: VGM
Career Horizons, a division of NTC Publishing Group.

This book gives detailed information on federal government employment including the
hiring process, various job types, employment outlook, career advancement, educational
requirements, salary opportunities, and where to get additional information.  This book is
not for legal opportunities, but includes other professions in the federal government. 
Available from National Textbook Company for $14.95 (hardcover) or $11.95
(paperback). Please note that this book is no longer available from the publisher, but
you may find copies on Amazon.com.

Federal Reports, Inc., Attorney Jobs Now: The National and Federal Legal Employment Report
(online).  (Last time in print was June 1999).  

This online publication has numerous legal and quasi-legal job vacancies, both locally
and nationally.  Online subscription costs for individuals are; 1mo.-$15.00; 2 mos.-
$25.00; 3 mos.-$37.50; 6 mos.-$75.00.  Call or write to: Federal Reports Inc., 1010
Vermont Ave., NW, Suite 408, Washington, DC, 20005, telephone 1-800-296-9611. 
Ordering information is also available on the Internet:
http://www.attorneyjobsonline.com.

  
 Federal Yellow Book (quarterly).  Washington, DC: Monitor Leadership Directories, Inc.

This is a comprehensive listing of all major components (including addresses and
telephone numbers) of all agencies.  It is updated and published quarterly.  It does not
have employment or vacancy information.  Federal Yellow Book is a source for federal
jobs in the greater Metro DC area.  Annual subscription is $360.00.  Call or write to: 
Leadership Directories, Inc., 104 Fifth Avenue, 3rd Floor, New York, NY, 10011,
telephone 212-627-4140.

Gov/Search (Carroll’s Online Federal Directory), (Online), Washington, DC, Carroll Publishing.

Carroll Publishing provides updated information on over 395,000 government decision-
makers and key staff at the federal, state, and local levels.  To subscribe for an online
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subscription or get pricing information call 301-263-9800 M-F, 9-5 EDT, or 1-800-336-
4240 and ask for Tony Hack, or e-mail Carroll Publishing at: custsvc@carrollpub.com. A
free, one-week trial subscription is available.  Payment may be made by check or credit
card (Visa, American Express, MasterCard).  Once payment is received, confirmation of
your login ID and password will be e-mailed to you.  The Web address for Carroll’s
Publishing is: http://www.carrollpub.com.

Hermann, Sutherland, and Sobajian, eds., Federal Careers for Attorneys, Second Edition (1991). 
Washington, DC: Federal Reports, Inc.

This is a guide to legal careers in over 80 federal practice fields, including descriptions of
agencies, locations and information on how to apply.  Call or write to: Federal Reports,
P.O. Box 3709, Georgetown Station, Washington, DC, 20007-0209, telephone 202-393-
3311 or 1-800-296-9611.  This publication is currently out of print, but will be updated. 

Hermann, Sutherland, and Sobajian, eds., Federal Law-Related Careers Directory, Third Edition
(1994). Washington, DC: Federal Reports, Inc.

This is a guide to over 150 law-related careers.  Available from Federal Reports, Inc., for
$24.95 (individual) and $50.00 (institutional).  Call or write: Federal Reports, Inc., 1010
Vermont Ave., NW, Washington, DC 20005, telephone 202-393-3311 or 1-800-296-
9611.  

Maxwell, Bruce, How to Access the Federal Government on the Internet, (1999). Washington,
DC: Congressional Quarterly.

U.S. federal agencies and departments use the Internet to offer free information to the
public.  However, new sites have been added, many sites are still hard to find, and those
that are found often provide only stale and misleading information.  This guide helps turn
the vast universe of information about the U.S. federal government into a world where
readers can find the information they need.  Cost is $35.95 (paperback).  Call or write:
CQ Press, Customer Service & Order Dept. WEB2, 1255 22nd Street, NW, Suite 400,
Washington, DC, 20037, telephone 1-866-427-7737.  Fax 202-729-1923.  Ordering
information is also available on the Internet: http://books.CQ.com.

McLoone, Tracy, ed., The Federal Internet Source, Fifth Edition (1996).  Washington, DC:
National Journal, Inc.

A guide to nearly 1000 Federal, state and political Internet sites, and how to find and use
them.  Does not specifically identify those Federal Internet sites with job information, but
identifies an Internet site for searching for Federal jobs.  This publication is no longer
available for purchase.  However, this may be available in your career services office or
your local library.
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Staudenmaier, Heidi McNeil, ed., Changing Jobs: A Handbook for Lawyers in the New
Millennium Third Edition (1999).  Chicago, IL: American Bar Association Young Lawyers
Division and Section of Law Practice Management.

This book explores career planning, job search process and employment opportunities in
various legal practice areas including government agencies, legal services and public
interest organizations.  Available from the ABA - Product Code No. #5110425.  Cost is
$49.95 ($39.95 for members of the Law Practice Management or Young Lawyers ABA
sections), plus postage and handling.  Call 1-800-285-2221.  Also available from NALP
- order from our online bookstore at www.nalp.org.

Office of the Federal Register, The United States Government Manual.  Washington, DC:
National Archives and Records Administration.

The official handbook of the Federal government, this manual provides comprehensive
information on the agencies of the legislative, judicial and executive branches, including
a brief history, a statement of the purpose and role of each agency, and a list of principal
officials. Cost is $41.00.  Call or write to: Superintendent of Documents, Government
Print-offs, P.O. Box 371954, Pittsburgh, PA, 15250-7954, telephone 202-512-1800. 
Please note that this publication is not available at this time.  It’s being decided
whether it will be revised or discontinued.  Contact the number above for further
information.

Thorner, Abbie W., ed., Now Hiring: Government Jobs for Lawyers (1997).  Chicago, IL: Law
Student Division, American Bar Association.

This updated directory gives practical and helpful information on various legal offices of
the legislative, judicial and executive branches, as well as on the independent agencies. 
Listing positions by branches of the federal government, this guide gives information on
the nature of the work of various divisions and offices, the number of attorneys
employed, anticipated openings, the location of positions, and where and how to apply. 
Available form the ABA - Product Code No. 5270038.  Cost is $19.95 (14.95 for
members of the ABA Law Student Division), plus postage and handling.  Call 1-800-
285-2221.  Also available from NALP - order from our online bookstore at
www.nalp.org.

Walton, Kimm, Americas’s Greatest Places to Work with a Law Degree, (2000).  Chicago, IL:
Harcourt Brace.

This guide examines law firms, corporations, public interest groups, and government
organizations at all levels.  It is based on surveys of law school administrations and legal
career placement personnel nationwide, and offers a mater-of-fact view on legal
employment in the government.  Cost is $24.95 (paperback).  Call or write to: Harcourt
Brace Legal & Professional Publications, Inc., 111 West Jackson, 7th Floor, Chicago, IL,
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60604, telephone 1-800-787-8717.  Fax 312-360-1842.  Ordering information is also
available on the Internet: http://www.gilbertlaw.com.

Legal Hiring Program Information for Federal Government Departments and Agencies 

Departments/Agencies Included:
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  1) Agriculture, Department of

  2) Air Force, Department of the
 The Judge Advocate General

  3) Army, Department of the
The Judge Advocate General’s
Corps

  4) Commerce, Department of
Office of General Counsel

 
  5) Commodity Futures Trading

Commission

  6) Defense, Department of
 Office of General Counsel

  7) Energy, Department of 
Office of General Counsel

  8) Environmental Protection Agency
Office of General Counsel

  9) Federal Communications
Commission

10) Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation

11) Federal Emergency Management
Agency

12) Federal Trade Commission

13) Food and Drug Administration
Office of the General Counsel

14) General Accounting Office

15) Inter-American Foundation

16) Interior, Department of the
Office of the Solicitor

17) International Trade Commission

18) Justice, Department of

19) Justice, Department of 
U.S. Attorneys’ Offices

20) Marine Corps
Judge Advocate Division

21) Navy, Department of the
Office of the General Counsel

22) Navy, Department of the
Office of the Judge Advocate
General

23) Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Office of the General Counsel

24) Securities and Exchange
Commission

25) Small Business Administration
Office of the General Counsel

26) Transportation, Department of
Federal Aviation Administration

27) Treasury, Department of the
Internal Revenue Service
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For additional information on the following Federal Government employers, refer to the 2003-2004
NALP Directory of Legal Employers, available in hard copy in most law school career services
offices, online at www.nalpdirectory.com, or in hard copy from NALP ($45 plus $4 shipping and
handling), call 202-835-1001 or go to NALP’s bookstore at www.nalp.org. 

Commodity Futures Trading Commission

Comptroller of the Currency

Environmental Protection Agency

Pension Benefit Guaranty Corp.

U.S. Air Force JAGC

U.S. Army JAGC

U.S. Coast Guard

U.S. General Accounting Office

U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission

Securities & Exchange Commission—general listing as well as separate listings for the following
regional offices: Atlanta, Boston, Chicago, Denver, Fort Worth, Los Angeles, Miami, New York,
Philadelphia, Salt Lake City, San Francisco, and Washington, DC.

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Agriculture, Department of
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ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Deborah Vita Office of General Counsel

1400 Independence Ave., SW
South Building, Room 2041
Washington, DC 20250-1400

PHONE: 202-720-4861
E-MAIL: debbie.vita@usda.gov
INTERNET: http://www.usda.gov

(no job site, but links to the Federal Government’s Official Job Site at
www.usajobs.opm.gov)

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: 235

SUMMER PROGRAM INFORMATION: 
No paid internships available. Will accept volunteers.

OTHER OFFICES:
17 Regional Field Offices:
Central: Kansas City, MO; Chicago, IL; Little Rock, AK; St. Paul, MN; Temple, TX
Mountain: Denver, CO; Albuquerque, NM; Missoula, MT; Ogden, UT
Pacific: San Francisco, CA; Juneau, AK; Portland, OR
Eastern: Atlanta, GA; Harrisburg, PA; Montgomery, AL; Columbus, OH; Milwaukee, WI

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
Attorneys handle a variety of legal work servicing USDA client agencies in areas of civil rights,
administrative, animal and plant health inspection, marketing, food stamps, natural resources
(environmental), and rural utilities.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:*
PERMANENT POSITIONS: Est. 3-4.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: None.

SUMMER POSITIONS: None.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: N/A

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: 3-4.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: None.

*Very limited assuming funding is available for replacements. No new positions.

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Air Force, Department of the
The Judge Advocate General’s Department (JAG)
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ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Captain Theresa Bruno HQ USAF/JAX

1420 Air Force Pentagon 
Room 5B269
Washington, DC 20330-1420

PHONE: 703-614-5941 or
1-800-JAG-USAF (524-8723)

INTERNET: http://www.jagusaf.hq.af.mil

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: 1391

HIRING INFORMATION: 
Hire experienced and entry-level attorneys (applicant may apply after completing 2nd year of law
school).

SUMMER PROGRAM INFORMATION: 
N/A

OTHER OFFICES: 
Global and in most states.

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
Diverse, challenging experience serving our nation’s Air Force and the vast array of legal issues that
arise.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: Expect to hire approximately 120 entry-level.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: On-going; year-round every sixty days (February, April, June,
August, October, December). 

SUMMER POSITIONS: Funded Internships available at the GS-9 level.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: On or about 6 February 2004.

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: N/A
APPLICATION DEADLINE: N/A

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Army, Department of the
Judge Advocate General’s Corps (JAG Corps)
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ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Captain Eugene Y. Kim Department of the Army

Judge Advocate Recruiting Office
1777 North Kent Street
Rosslyn, VA 22209-2194

PHONE: 703-696-2822
1-866-ARMY JAG (276-9524)

INTERNET: http://www.law.goarmy.com
http://www.jagcnet.army.mil/GoArmyJAG

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: over 3000 active duty, reserve and National Guard

HIRING INFORMATION: 
See web sites, The Whole Truth About Army Law brochure (for active duty service) and The
Immediate Experience brochure (for summer internships).

SUMMER PROGRAM INFORMATION: 
Competitive program for 100 temporary federal service positions.

OTHER OFFICES: 
Worldwide.  Contact office for locations.

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
Full legal practice, including criminal law, administrative law, legal services, government contracts,
employment law, environmental law, international and operational law, tort litigation and tax. 

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: Approximately 150 positions for entry-level and experienced
attorneys (age, physical fitness and citizenship requirements apply). 
APPLICATION DEADLINE: November 1 for Fall selection and March 1 for Spring 
selection.

SUMMER POSITIONS:  75 2L and 25 1L positions offered; worldwide placement.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: November 1 for 2Ls and March 1 for 1Ls.
  
2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: Law school approved externships offered on
case-by-case basis; contact LTC Wilkerson for more details.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: None

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Commerce, Department of 
Office of the General Counsel
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ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Kathleen M. Kalb Office of the General Counsel
Executive Officer 14th & Constitution Ave., NW

Room 5875
Washington, DC 20230

PHONE: 202-482-0490 
EMAIL: ogcexecutiveoffice@doc.gov
INTERNET: http://www.ogc.doc.gov/ogc/docfiles/vacannounce

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: 160

HIRING INFORMATION: 
See Web page and check National and Federal Legal Employment Report and submit applications
in response to advertised vacancies.

SUMMER PROGRAM INFORMATION: 
Volunteer and paid positions (if budget permits) are available; send resume and cover letter to the
above mailing or email addresses.

OTHER OFFICES: 
Various regional offices throughout the U.S. – contact office for locations.

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
International, contracts, procurement, regulatory, legislative, natural resources, environmental,
personnel and labor law, administrative law, commercial and general litigation, technology,
telecommunications, economic affairs and development, minority business, census, and patent &
trademark.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: Replacement hiring only.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Would depend on specific vacancy announcement.

SUMMER POSITIONS: Volunteer and paid (if budget permits).
APPLICATION DEADLINE: March 31, annually.

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: Volunteer positions and paid positions (if budget
permits).
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Contact office.

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Commodity Futures Trading Commission

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
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Christopher Arntzen Office of Human Resources
Human Resources Specialist 1155 21st Street, NW

Three Lafayette Centre
Room 4100
Washington, DC 20581

PHONE: 202-418-5015
JOBLINE: 202-418-5009
INTERNET: http://www.cftc.gov   

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: 160

HIRING INFORMATION: 
Hire experienced attorneys and new law school graduates.

SUMMER PROGRAM INFORMATION: 
Student Employment Program. Contact Human Resources, Summer /S tuden t  Employmen t
Coordinator at 202-418-5003.

OTHER OFFICES: 
Chicago, IL; Kansas City, MO; New York, NY.

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
Advisory, regulatory, litigation.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: Hiring approximately 10 experienced and 5 entry-level attorney
positions.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Depends on specific vacancy, available through the Jobline (above).

SUMMER POSITIONS: Hiring anticipated (10 positions)
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Contact Summer/Student Employment Coordinator, above.

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: A few positions available, mostly volunteer.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: N/A

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Defense, Department of
Office of the General Counsel

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
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James R. Schwenk Room 3E-999
1600 Defense Pentagon
Washington, DC 20301-1600

PHONE: 703-697-9343
E-MAIL: schwenkj@dodgc.osd.mil

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: 60 full-time

HIRING INFORMATION: 
Summer only.

SUMMER PROGRAM INFORMATION: 
10-12 interns

OTHER OFFICES: 
N/A

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
Postings in numerous DoD/GC divisions (legal review of policy documents, research, writing, etc.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: N/A
APPLICATION DEADLINE: N/A

SUMMER POSITIONS: 10-12 interns
APPLICATION DEADLINE: November for rising 3Ls and December for rising 2Ls.

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: N/A
APPLICATION DEADLINE: N/A

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Energy, Department of
Office of the General Counsel

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
James Rowe Office of the General Counsel
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Administrative Operations GC90
1000 Independence Avenue, SW
Washington, DC 20585

PHONE: 202-586-8533
INTERNET: http://www.energy.gov

http://www.gc.doe.gov
(both sites have job listings)

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: 110

HIRING INFORMATION: 
Limited hiring anticipated.

SUMMER PROGRAM INFORMATION: 
Summer Intern Program uses volunteers only.

OTHER OFFICES: 
None.

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
Provide legal services to the Department.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: If any hiring, will be very limited.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: N/A

SUMMER POSITIONS: None.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: N/A

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: Volunteer positions available.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: See Website http://www.gc.doe.gov.

  

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Environmental Protection Agency
Office of the General Counsel

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Eudora Bow Heath Office of General Counsel
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Recruitment Coordinator 1200 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Mail Code 2311A
Washington, DC 20460

PHONE: 202-564-1747
INTERNET: http://www.epa.gov
 
NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: 781 (140 in Office of General Counsel in DC and

641 in Regional Counsel offices).

HIRING INFORMATION: 
Hire experienced attorneys and new graduates. Send cover letter with resume and writing sample.
Contact office for more details.

SUMMER PROGRAM INFORMATION:  
Paid program open to 2Ls.

OTHER OFFICES: 
10 Regional offices: Atlanta, GA; Boston, MA; Chicago, IL; Dallas, TX; Denver, CO; Kansas City,
MO; New York, NY; Philadelphia, PA; San Francisco, CA; Seattle, WA.

DESCRIPTION OF WORK:  
Air and radiation, water, solid waste and emergency response, pesticides, and toxic substances,
international environmental law, finance and operations, alternative dispute resolution, ethics,
personnel, copyright, cross-cutting issues, and civil rights.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: Some hiring anticipated, mostly replacement hiring.

SUMMER POSITIONS: Approximately 10 (depending on budget).
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Usually mid-October.

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: Volunteer internship for school credit.
APPLICATION DEADLINE:  N/A

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Federal Communications Commission

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Personnel Clerk 445 12th Street, SW

Room 1-A207
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Washington, DC 20554

PHONE: 202-418-0101 (Job Information Line)
202-418-2830 (Fax information - document 4906 contains current job listings)

INTERNET: http://www.fcc.gov/jobs

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: 465

HIRING INFORMATION: 
Experienced and entry-level attorneys should apply to specific vacancy announcements, which are
available through the telephone number and Internet address provided above.  Applicants must
specify vacancy announcement number.  Unsolicited resumes are not accepted.  (The FCC no longer
operates an Honor Program for entry-level attorneys – Bureaus and Offices now hire individually.)

OTHER OFFICES:
There are field office locations throughout the country.  However, all attorney positions are located
in Washington, DC.

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
Telecommunications practice.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: Usually seeking applicants for attorney vacancies (see above).
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Depends on specific vacancy announcement.

SUMMER POSITIONS: Number of positions depends on budget and workload.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Applications accepted on a continuous basis.

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: Positions available for pay on a very limited basis or
school credit.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Applications accepted on a continuous basis.

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Catherine Spencer Legal Division
Supervisory Administrative Specialist 550 17th Street, NW

Room MB-2068
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Washington, DC 20429

PHONE:  202-898-6955
INTERNET: http://www.fdic.gov

Careers at FDIC

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: 269

HIRING INFORMATION: 
No attorney hiring - organization recently downsized.

SUMMER PROGRAM INFORMATION:  
Paid Summer Intern Program available for 2nd- and 3rd-year law students.

OTHER OFFICES: 
One Liquidation Regional Office - Dallas, TX.  Eight Bank Supervision Regional Offices: Atlanta,
GA; Chicago, IL; Kansas City, MO; Dallas, TX; New York, NY; San Francisco, CA; Boston, MA;
Memphis, TN

DESCRIPTION OF WORK:  
Banking, corporate, legislative, and commercial.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS:  None
APPLICATION DEADLINE:  N/A

SUMMER POSITIONS: Some hiring anticipated (approximately 10 positions).
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Usually early March - contact legal administration at (202) 898-
6964.

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: Fall and spring semester interns.
APPLICATION DEADLINE:  Contact legal administration.

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Federal Emergency Management Agency

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Kim Nowell FEMA - Room 822

500 C Street, SW
Washington, DC 20472
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PHONE: 202-646-3980
E-MAIL: kim.nowell@dhs.gov
INTERNET: http://www.fema.gov

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: FEMA’s Office of General Counsel is staffed with
approximately 30 attorneys and 10 support staff (such as Legislative Specialists, Legal
Program Specialists, Freedom of Information Act Specialist, Claims Specialists).

HIRING INFORMATION: 
FEMA is striving to become the “employer of choice” for high quality individuals looking for an
environment that fosters innovation, rewards performance and creativity, and provides challenge on
a routine basis. Recognizing that our employees play a critical role in the success of the Agency,
FEMA is unconditionally committed to retaining, training and motivating its existing workforce as
well as recruiting and developing new employees to ensure the success of FEMA and the Agency’s
ability to make good on its promises to America. Individuals interested in becoming part of a well-
skilled, knowledgeable, high performance workforce that reflects the diversity of our nation should
review the employment opportunities listed on our web site.

FEMA also participates in several internship programs. These programs support the Agency
mission, organizational goals and management objectives and are a productive and rewarding
experience for everyone involved. They allow the intern to explore career options as well as to
develop personal and professional workplace skills.

Internship opportunities include the Student Volunteer Service Program; the Federal Career Intern
Program; the Presidential Management Intern Program; and the Outstanding Scholar Program.
Detailed information on the various internship programs may be obtained by contacting Sheryl
Withers at 202-646-4081 or via email at sheryl.withers@fema.gov.

SUMMER PROGRAM: 
FEMA routinely hires students as well as graduates throughout the year based on position
availability within the various FEMA organizations. Summer hires typically work during the months
of May through September depending on their school schedule.

Federal Emergency Management Agency (continued)

OTHER OFFICES: 
FEMA has historically hired law students and law graduates throughout the Agency, not just in our
Office of General Counsel. Placements have included the Human Resources Division, Flood
Insurance and Mitigation Administration, Response and Recovery Directorate and more. FEMA
organizations Agency-wide are interest in hiring the talent and expertise 
offered by law school students/graduates. The energy level, flexibility, commitment and innovation
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typical of law school students/graduates represent high quality traits recognized, coveted and
appreciated by FEMA. 

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
Position duties vary, but would be expected to include collecting data; researching, analyzing,
preparing and disseminating information and briefing materials; writing and/or editing reports and
correspondence; and attending or participating in meetings and conferences.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: Please refer to http://www.fema.gov/career/ for an up-to-date listing
of employment opportunities Agency-wide.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Application deadlines vary depending on the specific position
advertised. All application packages, regardless of method of receipt, must be received by the
closing date of the vacancy announcement. FEMA accepts applications for employment via email,
fax, routine mail service and express mail services. The application process varies - so it is important
that applicants read each vacancy announcement carefully and follow the specific application
instructions provided each time you are interest in submitting an application package for
consideration. Failure to provide the vacancy announcement number or any other information
specifically required by the vacancy announcement, as part of the application package, will result
in loss of consideration for the position.

SUMMER POSITIONS: Please refer to http://www.fema.gov/career/.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Ongoing
 
2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: Please refer to http://www.fema.gov/career/.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Ongoing

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Federal Trade Commission

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Joanne S. Martin Human Resources
Personnel Management Specialist Management Office

Room H-723
600 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20580-0001
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PHONE: 202-326-2341
E-MAIL: jmartin@ftc.gov
INTERNET: www.ftc.gov

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: Approximately 500

HIRING INFORMATION: 
The FTC primarily hires attorneys and economists to accomplish its consumer protection and
competition missions. There are limited opportunities for other types of professional, administrative,
and support missions.

SUMMER PROGRAM: 
The FTC usually has a limited number of paid summer internships available to first and second year
law school students. Law students may be hired at the GS-7 or GS-9 level, and most of these
positions are located in the Bureau of Competition and the Bureau of Consumer Protection.

OTHER OFFICES: 
Bureau of Economics, Office of the General Counsel, Office of the Executive Director and seven
Regional Offices (Atlanta, GA; Chicago, IL; Cleveland, OH; Dallas, TX; New York, NY; San
Francisco, CA; Seattle, WA) are the other major organizational units in the FTC.

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
Administrative adjudications, trade regulation rules, antitrust and trade regulations, and consumer
protection.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: 17
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Varies.

SUMMER POSITIONS: 20
APPLICATION DEADLINE: October 1

Federal Trade Commission (continued)

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: 0
APPLICATION DEADLINE: N/A
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DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Food and Drug Administration
Office of the General Counsel

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Kelley Biser Room 6A03

5600 Fishers Lane
Rockville, MD 20857

PHONE: 301-827-1167
E-MAIL: kbiser@oc.fda.gov
INTERNET: http://www.fda.gov   
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NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: Approximately 63

SUMMER PROGRAM INFORMATION: 
N/A

OTHER OFFICES: 
N/A

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
Food and drug attorneys.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: Approximately 3-4.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Rolling, no deadline.

SUMMER POSITIONS: 1
APPLICATION DEADLINE: N/A

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS:  None
APPLICATION DEADLINE: N/A

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: General Accounting Office

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Reba A. Jones Office of the General Counsel
Human Capital Manager 441 G Street, NW

Room 7X09
Washington, DC 20548

PHONE: 202-512-4703
INTERNET: http://www.gao.gov

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: 135
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HIRING INFORMATION: 
Hire 8-10 entry-level attorneys per year, as well as lateral hires as needed.

SUMMER PROGRAM INFORMATION: 
Hiring 10-12 paid summer positions; currently paying $1,000 per week.

OTHER OFFICES: 
None

DESCRIPTION OF WORK:  
Provide advice and support to members and staff of Committees of Congress in a wide range of
subjects.  Prepare decisions for the Comptroller General in the areas of contracts and Federal
appropriations law.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: Hiring 8-10 entry-level attorneys.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: October 31, 2003.

SUMMER POSITIONS: 10-12 paid summer positions.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: October 31.

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: None expected.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Contact office.

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Inter-American Foundation (IAF) 

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Jocelyn Nieva 10th Floor
Assistant General Counsel 901 N. Stuart Street

Arlington, VA 22203

PHONE: 703-306-4314
E-MAIL: jnieva@iaf.gov
INTERNET: www.iaf.gov

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: 2
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HIRING INFORMATION: 
Applicants should be second- or third-year law students in the upper 25% of their class. Fluency in
Spanish is strongly preferred. Submit a resume, cover letter, writing samples, and transcript. The
cover letter should describe relevant experience and list the approximate number of hours and
schedule that the candidate is available. The Office of the General Counsel will interview qualified
candidates and make a final selection for the position after the interviews.

SUMMER PROGRAM INFORMATION: 
Rising second-year students may apply according to the instructions above.

OTHER OFFICES: 
N/A

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
As a volunteer Intern under the Student Career Experience Program (SCEP), the incumbent will be
assigned to work independently and cooperatively with staff from the Office of General Counsel.
The intern will:

-Conduct legal research, draft memoranda and other written analyses, and provide oral
advice regarding legal issues affecting the IAF, including various laws of general
applicability to U.S. Government agencies.

-Assist with the Office of General Counsel’s review and updating of internal policies and
procedures relating to grant funding activities as well as administrative matters.

-Conduct research, interview staff, and draft policies.

-Assess the IAF’s regulations and provide drafts of new regulations and accompanying
notices for public comment

Inter-American Foundation (continued)

-Provide research and support to the Office of General Counsel in responding to staff 
inquiries on legal issues related to development grants and other matters.

In addition, the incumbent will be responsible for performing a variety of administrative functions
related to the above assignments and will meet regularly with supervisory staff to receive guidance
and review the progress of tasks.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: None
APPLICATION DEADLINE: N/A

SUMMER POSITIONS: 1
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APPLICATION DEADLINE: N/A

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: 1
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Open until filled.

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Interior, Department of the 
Office of the Solicitor

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Jack Hirsch Office of the Solicitor
Personnel Liaison 1849 C Street, NW, Room 7456

Washington, DC 20240

PHONE: 202-208-3179
INTERNET: http://www.doi.gov/sol

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: 294

HIRING INFORMATION: 
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Hire experienced and entry-level attorneys.

SUMMER PROGRAM INFORMATION: 
No paid summer program, but informally hosts student volunteers.

OTHER OFFICES: 
Albuquerque, NM; Anchorage, AK; Atlanta, GA; Billings, MT; Boise, ID; Boston, MA; Denver,
CO; Knoxville, TN; Palm Springs, CA; Phoenix, AZ; Pittsburgh, PA; Portland, OR; Sacramento,
CA; Salt Lake City, UT; Oakland, CA; Santa Fe, NM; Tulsa, OK; Twin Cities, MN.

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
Natural resources, endangered species, Indian affairs, conservation and wildlife, park, energy,
surface mining, administration of public lands, personnel, and administrative law.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: Some replacement hiring for experienced attorney positions.  Entry-
level program hiring approximately 5-8 attorneys.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Contact office (Usually October 5th for graduating law students).

SUMMER POSITIONS: Anticipate some volunteer positions.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: No deadline.

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: Hiring of 2Ls and 3Ls possible on volunteer basis.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: No deadline.

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: U.S. International Trade Commission

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Susan Austin Office of Human Resources
Human Resources Specialist 500 E Street, SW

Room 314
Washington, DC 20436

PHONE: 202-205-2660
JOBLINE: 202-205-2651
INTERNET: http://www.usitc.gov

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: 47

HIRING INFORMATION: 
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Recruiting some experienced attorneys. Apply to vacancy announcements available on web site or
by calling Job Info Line (above).

SUMMER PROGRAM INFORMATION:
 Paid and volunteer positions.

OTHER OFFICES: 
None.

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
General law, international trade law, business law, and unfair import investigation.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: Hiring anticipated.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Depends on specific vacancy announcement.

SUMMER POSITIONS: Expect to hire 5 positions, 1Ls and 2Ls.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Contact office.

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: Volunteer positions.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Contact office.

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Justice, Department of

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Deana M. C. Willis Office of Attorney Recruitment and

Management (OARM)
Suite 5200
20 Massachusetts Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20530

PHONE: 202-514-3396 (voice tree recording)
TDD: 202-616-2113
INTERNET: http://www.usdoj.gov/oarm/

Includes information on eligibility and application procedures for law students,
entry-level attorneys, and experienced lawyers, as well as selected vacancy
announcements and information on the work of each Department organization,
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salaries, security clearance, citizenship requirements, and the Department’s
employment policies.

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: Approximately 9,200 (including the 94 U.S.
Attorneys’ Offices nationwide)

HIRING INFORMATION: 
The Attorney General’s Honors Program 

-130-150 hired annually through this entry-level recruitment program
-3Ls, graduate law students and judicial law clerks (see web page for eligibility
requirements)
-Online applications through electronic transmission available at www.usdoj.gov/oarm
between August 1 and application deadline (usually mid- to late September - September 15
for 2003)

Summer Law Intern Program (compensated)

-100-130 law students, mostly 2L and some 3Ls entering judicial clerkships, each summer
-Same application process and deadline as Attorney General’s Honors Program

Volunteer Internships

-800 volunteer internships for academic year and 1,000 for the summer
-First-year (second semester), second-year, and third-year law students (academic year only)
are eligible
-Submit resume directly to each Department organization

Justice, Department of (continued)

-Partial listing of available internships for fall, spring and summer, including deadlines,
application procedures and contacts, is available on the web page

Experienced Attorneys

-900+ experienced attorneys hired each year nationwide
-Attorneys with J.D. degree for at least one year who are active members of a bar (any
jurisdiction) are eligible.
-Submit resume, at any time, directly to each Department organization
-Selected vacancy announcements on web page

Note:   U.S. Attorneys’ Offices generally do not participate in the Summer Law Intern and Attorney
General’s Honors Program. See following entry for specifics.

OTHER OFFICES: 
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Opportunities available in Washington, D.C. and in U.S. Attorney’s Offices and field offices
nationwide.

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
All areas of federal law, particularly: administrative, antitrust, civil litigation, civil rights, criminal
prosecution, environment, tax, immigration and bankruptcy.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: See information above.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: See information above.

SUMMER POSITIONS: See information above.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: See information above.

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: See information above.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: See information above.
 

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Justice, Department of 
U.S. Attorneys’ Offices

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT:  Individual U.S. Attorneys’ Office
(See internet address below for listing of individual contacts)

ADDRESSES:  There are 94 U.S. Attorneys’ Offices throughout the country. Contact individual
office. (See internet address below for contact listings).

PHONE: See internet address below.
INTERNET: http://www.usdoj.gov/usao/offices/index.html (Contains contact information and

addresses for each of the 94 U.S. Attorneys’ Offices)

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: Approximately 5,000 are employed nationwide.
The number in each U.S. Attorney’s Office varies from 7 to 358.
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HIRING INFORMATION: 
Each U.S. Attorney’s office conducts its recruitment independently. For all positions, resumes and
writing samples should be submitted directly to each U.S. Attorney’s Office in which you have an
interest.

Experienced Attorneys

-The U.S. Attorneys’ Offices hire only experienced attorneys as vacancies occur.
-Attorneys with a J.D. degree must possess at least one year of legal experience and be an
active member in good standing of the Bar.
-Generally, candidates have three or more years of trial experience.

Student, Summer and Volunteer Positions

-The U.S. Attorneys’ Offices hire a significant number of volunteer law student interns, both
during the academic year and for the summer.

-Many U.S. Attorneys’ Offices list information on their volunteer summer programs at
http://www.usdoj.gov/oarm.

OTHER OFFICES: 
94 offices throughout the U.S., Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, Guam and the Northern Marianas.

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
Each U.S. Attorney is the chief federal law enforcement officer of the United States within his or
her particular jurisdiction. Attorneys working in the U.S. Attorneys’ Offices conduct 

Justice, Department of, U.S. Attorneys’ Offices (continued)

most of the trial work in which the United States is a party. Statutory responsibilities under 
Title 28 of the United States Code include: the prosecution of criminal cases brought by the Federal
government; the prosecution and defense of civil cases in which the U.S. is a party; and the
collection of debts owed the Federal government which are administratively uncollectible.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: See information above.
APPLICATION DEADLINE:  See information above.

SUMMER POSITIONS:  See information above.
APPLICATION DEADLINE:  See information above.

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS:  See information above.
APPLICATION DEADLINE:  See information above.
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DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Marine Corps
Judge Advocate Program

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Captain Kevin Saunders United States Marine Corps

Marine Corps Recruiting Command
3280 Russell Road
Quantico, VA 22134

PHONE: 703-784-9449
INTERNET: http://www.mcrc.usmc.mil/section/o/index(ol).htm

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: 481 Active Duty

HIRING INFORMATION: 
See our web site.

SUMMER PROGRAM INFORMATION: 
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Summer internships available nationwide after completing initial officer candidate school.

OTHER OFFICES: 
Throughout the U.S. and some parts of the world. Contact office for locations.

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
International, labor, torts, environmental, family, contracts, and criminal.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: Hire 35 new attorneys for active duty each year.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Contact local Officer Selection Office, Marine Corps’ recruiter.

SUMMER POSITIONS: Summer programs restricted to already commissioned individuals.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Contact office.

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: Hiring possible.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Contact Officer Selection Office.

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Navy, Department of the 
Office of the General Counsel

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Diane S. Schnittman Department of the Navy
Assistant to the General Counsel Office of the General Counsel

1000 Navy Pentagon, Room 4D715
Washington, DC 20350-1000

PHONE: 703-695-8400
E-MAIL: schnittman.diane@hq.navy.mil
INTERNET: http://ogc.navy.mil

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: 613 (583 Civilian, 30 Military)

HIRING INFORMATION: Consult OGC’s Web Site at: http://ogc.navy.mil.

SUMMER INFO PROGRAM: 
We recruit 2Ls at law schools throughout the county in Sept./Oct. See NALP Government
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Questionnaire Form.

OTHER OFFICES: 
We hire 2Ls to work in our Washington, Virginia and Patuxent River, MD, offices.

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
The legal work of OGC is extremely sophisticated as well as varied. The bulk of the work centers
around the Department of the Navy’s primary activity of building and supplying its fleet of ships
and aircraft. As a result, the principal area of OGC’s practice is government contract law, which is
similar in nature to a business and commercial law practice. Many of the cases involve several
hundred million dollars in purchases or claims. Additionally, OGC attorneys work in areas such as
real estate law, utilities law, environmental law, admiralty law, and civilian personnel law. (The
office of the General Counsel includes approximately 70 patent attorneys. Individuals interested
solely in pursuing a patent specialization must possess a bachelor’s degree, or equivalent experience,
in chemistry, physics, electronics, electrical engineering or mechanical engineering.)

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: 5 entry-level positions, selected from previous 2Ls. 
APPLICATION DEADLINE: N/A
 
SUMMER POSITIONS: Approximately 10
APPLICATION DEADLINE: November 6.

Navy, Department of the (continued)

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: N/A
APPLICATION DEADLINE: N/A
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DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Navy, Department of the 
Office of the Judge Advocate General

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
LT Robert J. Passerello, JAGC, USN Department of the Navy
Detailer for Accessions and Recruiting Naval Personnel Command

5720 Integrity Drive
Millington, TN 38055-4416

PHONE:  901-874-4084
INTERNET: http://www.jag.navy.mil/html/careers.htm

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: 756 (Navy JAGs)

HIRING INFORMATION: 
Licensed attorneys are hired through the Direct Commission Program.  Law students are hired for
permanent positions through the JAG Corps Student Program. Please visit our web site for program
information and application materials.  We hire approximately 3 Direct Commission and 50 Student
Program attorneys.
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SUMMER PROGRAM INFORMATION: 
Please see the Frequently Asked Questions document on our web site.

OTHER OFFICES: 
51 offices throughout the U.S. and the world.  Please visit our web site for specific locations.

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
Criminal, consumer protection, real estate, tax, environmental, administrative, litigation, admiralty,
civil affairs, investigations, international law, claims, and tort litigation.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: Expect to hire approximately 3 licensed attorneys and 50 law
students  for entry-level positions upon completion of licensing requirement.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Please see the application calendar on our web site. Quarterly
boards.

SUMMER POSITIONS: Expect to hire if funding is available. Please visit our web site for details
and application materials.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: November 22, 2003

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: None.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: N/A
DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Nuclear Regulatory Commission

Office of the General Counsel

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Mary Ann Warner Office of the General Counsel
Management Analyst MS O 15 D21

Washington, DC 20555

PHONE: 301-415-1518
E-MAIL: maw@nrc.gov
INTERNET: http://www.nrc.gov   

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: 60

HIRING INFORMATION: 
Criteria: Honor Law Graduate Program. Third year law students or judicial clerkship; top 1/3, moot
court/law review desirable; clinical or other practical experience; technical background noted but
not necessary.

SUMMER PROGRAM INFORMATION: 
Submit: Resume, writing sample and transcripts.
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OTHER OFFICES: 
N/A

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
Attorneys represent the NRC in public hearings, review proposed and enacted legislation for its
impact upon NRC programs, draft and interpret internal regulations, advise the staff in labor,
contract, personnel, patent, security and international agreement matters and enforcement actions.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: None
APPLICATION DEADLINE: N/A

SUMMER POSITIONS: 3-4
APPLICATION DEADLINE: February 1, 2004

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: Honor Law Graduate Program - third year law students
3/4 of the positions.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: October 15, 2003

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY:  Securities and Exchange Commission

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Jodi Wells Securities and Exchange Commission
Recruiting Assistant 450 5th Street, NW
202-942-7320 Room 1120

Washington, DC 20549-0103

PERSONNEL HOTLINE: Use web site
TTY: 202-942-4095
INTERNET: http://www.sec.gov/jobs.shtml

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: Approximately 1500

HIRING INFORMATION: 
Hire experienced attorneys and new graduates.  See Invest in Your Legal Career recruitment
brochure. (available on the web site)

SUMMER PROGRAM INFORMATION: 
Summer Paid Program available for 1Ls and 2Ls.

OTHER OFFICES:
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11 Regional offices: Atlanta, GA; Boston, MA; Chicago, IL; Denver, CO; Fort Worth, TX; Los
Angeles, CA; Miami, FL; New York, NY; Philadelphia, PA; Salt Lake City, UT; San Francisco, CA.

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
Mission of the SEC is to administer Federal Securities Enforcement and regulatory laws.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004: 
PERMANENT POSITIONS: Anticipate approximately 250.
(220 experienced attorneys and 30 graduating law students).
APPLICATION DEADLINE: November 1 for graduating law students.  Experienced attorneys
should contact personnel office.

SUMMER POSITIONS: Approximately 45 paid positions in DC.  50 in other offices.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Summer Honors Program applications accepted until October 31
for 2Ls and March for 1Ls.  Include cover letter, resume, 5-6 page writing sample, transcripts
(undergraduate and law school), and four references with name, address and phone number.

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: Student Observer Program for volunteer positions up
to 20 hours per week. Fall and Spring semesters.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Apply at least eight weeks prior to the start of the semester. 

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Small Business Administration 
Office of General Counsel

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Ann M. Celia Office of the General Counsel

Suite 7200
409 Third Street, SW
Washington, DC 20416

PHONE: 202-401-8235
E-MAIL: ann.celia@sba.gov
INTERNET: http://www.sba.gov

(does not include attorney vacancy information)

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: More than 50 at Washington, DC, headquarters
 
HIRING INFORMATION: 
Submit a cover letter, resume and writing sample (maximum, ten typed pages).

SUMMER PROGRAM INFORMATION: 
Starts in May/June and ends in August.

OTHER OFFICES: 
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Field offices located in all 50 states, including most major cities.

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
Performs research for special projects; draft, write and edit memoranda and research reports; verify
citations and legal references on legal documents; perform other duties as assigned.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: N/A
APPLICATION DEADLINE: N/A

SUMMER POSITIONS: 15-17
APPLICATION DEADLINE: End of February 2003

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: N/A
APPLICATION DEADLINE: N/A

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Transportation, Department of 
Federal Aviation Administration

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Annette Pitts Office of the Chief Counsel
Manager, Resources Management Staff 800 Independence Avenue, SW

Room 926 East
Washington, DC 20591

PHONE: 202-267-7256
E-MAIL: annette.pitts@faa.dot.gov
INTERNET: http://www.faa.gov

(does not include attorney vacancy information)

NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: 197

HIRING INFORMATION: 
Experienced and entry-level attorney replacement hiring only.  Check local newspaper for current
vacancy announcements.

SUMMER PROGRAM INFORMATION: 
No formal program.

OTHER OFFICES: 
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Field offices located throughout the U.S.

DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
General law, personnel and labor, airports and environmental issues, regulatory drafting,
enforcement, procurement law, general and accident litigation, legislative, dispute resolution for
acquisition, and international.

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: Small number of replacement hires only.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Depends on specific vacancy.

SUMMER POSITIONS: Uncertain.  Check local newspaper.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Check local newspaper.

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: None.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: N/A

DEPARTMENT/AGENCY: Treasury, Department of the 
Internal Revenue Service

ATTORNEY RECRUITMENT CONTACT: ADDRESS:
Tania Allen Internal Revenue Service
Attorney Program Coordinator Office of Chief Counsel

Attorney Recruitment Office
Room 4427
950 L’Enfant Plaza, SW
Washington, DC 20024

PHONE: 202-622-4550
INTERNET: http://www.irs.gov/
 
NUMBER OF ATTORNEYS CURRENTLY: 1523

HIRING INFORMATION: 
Hire experienced attorneys, and law school graduates.

SUMMER PROGRAM INFORMATION: 
Hire mostly 2Ls and a few 1Ls.

OTHER OFFICES: 
51 locations throughout the U.S. Contact office for locations.
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DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 
Litigation, tax refund cases, collection problems, tax criminal cases, bankruptcy, revenue rulings,
legal matters in taxation disclosure, and general legal services (Legal Specialties).

HIRING PLANS IN 2003-2004:
PERMANENT POSITIONS: Hiring experienced and entry-level attorneys.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Contact office.

SUMMER POSITIONS: Positions in DC; varies in the regional offices.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Contact offices.

2003-2004 SCHOOL YEAR POSITIONS: Volunteer program available.
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Contact offices.

2003 ATTORNEY/LAW STUDENT HIRING PROJECTIONS FOR FEDERAL
GOVERNMENT DEPARTMENTS AND AGENCIES 

PROJECTED HIRES

AGENCY NUMBER OF
ATTORNEYS

SUMMER ENTRY-
LEVEL

EXPERIENCED

Agriculture, Department of 235      unpaid   
        

3-4

Air Force, Department of the
The Judge Advocate General

1391 funded
internships

approx. 120 -0-

Army, Department of the
Judge Advocate General’s Corps

3000 75 2L
25 1L

approx. 150

Commerce, Department of
Office of the General Counsel

160 paid and
unpaid

replacement
hiring only

replacement hiring
only

Commodity Futures Trading 160 10 5 10

Defense, Department of 
Office of the General Counsel

60 10-12
interns

-0- -0-

Energy, Department of 
Office of the General Counsel

110 unpaid if any, very
limited

if any, very
limited

Environmental Protection Agency
Office of the General Counsel

781 approx. 10 some hiring
anticipated

replacement hiring
anticipated
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Federal Communications Commission 465 paid specific
vacancy

hiring only

specific vacancy
hiring only

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 269 approx. 10
positions

-0- -0-

Federal Emergency Management Agency 30 refer to http://www.fema.gov/career/

Federal Trade Commission 500 20 17

Food and Drug Administration
Office of the General Counsel

63 1 3-4

General Accounting Office 135 10-12 paid
positions

8-10 as needed

Inter-American Foundation 2 1 -0- -0-

Interior, Department of the
Office of the Solicitor

294 unpaid 5-8 some replacement
hiring

International Trade Commission 47 5 positions,
1Ls & 2Ls

some hiring
anticipated

some replacement
hiring

Justice, Department of (including U.S. Attorneys’
Offices )

9,200 100-130 130-150 900+

Justice, Department of 
U.S. Attorneys’ Offices

5000 contact
indiv.
offices

-0- contact indiv.
offices

Marine Corps                                                   Active
Judge Advocate Division                                            
        

481 limited to
comm’d

individuals

35 positions
for active

duty

-0-

Navy, Department of the                               Civilian
Office of the General Counsel                         Active

583
30

approx. 10
2Ls

5 -0-

Navy, Department of the
Office of the Judge Advocate General

756 -0- 55 3

Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Office of the General Counsel

60 3-4 -0- -0-

Securities and Exchange Commission 1500 45 30 220

Small Business Administration
Office of the General Counsel

50 15-17 -0- -0-

Transportation, Department of 
Federal Aviation Administration

197 uncertain replacement
hiring only

replacement hiring
only

Treasury, Department of the
Internal Revenue Service

1523 Contact office.
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Federal Employment in the Executive Branch - Rate of Growth/Decrease 2000-2004

The link for this table is http://w3.access.gpo.gov/usbudget/fy2004/empl.html.

Under “Federal Employment and Compensation” (from Analytical Perspectives, Chapter 11),
click on Table 11-1.
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Where the Government Jobs Are

Number of
Lawyers

Average Salary Average Length
of Service

(Years)

Department of Justice 7,809 $115,884 13.8

Department of Treasury 2,161 $99,905 16.8

Social Security Administration 1,472 $80,229 13.1

Securities and Exchange
Commission

1,255 $122,270   8.8

Department of the Army 1,002 $90,483 17.2

Department of Homeland
Security

970 $95,536 11.6

Environmental Protection
Agency

931 $101,882 14.0

National Labor Relations
Board

709 $96,531 15.3

Department of Veteran Affairs 689 $93,894 15.4

Department of Commerce 607 $96,598 11.7
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Department of the Navy 554 $100,280 16.0

Department of Labor 549 $102,353 16.7

Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission

525 $93,265 12.5

Federal Communications
Commission

514 $110,455 11.1

Federal Trade Commission 476 $106,964 12.9

Federal departments and agencies with the most general schedule attorneys nationwide as of
March 2003.

Source: Office of Personnel Management


